RECEIVED

May 28 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001698

Patricia P. McGougan and
Edgar McGougan,

.....

Appellants,

v.

Richard F. Frisch, M.D., Timothy
E. West, M.D., The Southeastern
Spine Institute, L.L.C., and
Lowcountry Infectious
Diseases, P.A.

.....

Respondents.

APPELLANTS' BRIEF

Daniel W. Luginbill
Julia M. Flumian
McGowan, Hood, Felder & Phillips, LLC
10 Shem Drive, Suite 300
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
dluginbill@mcgowanhood.com
jflumian@mcgowanhood.com

Jordan C. Calloway
McGowan, Hood, Felder & Phillips, LLC

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Whether the circuit court erred in preventing the defendant infectious disease physician from reading on cross-examination treatment guidelines from a learned medical treatise the physician relied on during his direct examination and admitted was a reliable authority.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants Patricia P. McGougan and Edgar McGougan initiated this medical malpractice litigation by filing a Notice of Intent to File Suit (“NOI”) on June 13, 2018, with service completed by September 17, 2018. (R. p. 7). The NOI named as defendants Respondents Richard F. Frisch, M.D., Timothy E. West, M.D., The Southeastern Spine Institute, LLC (“Southeastern Spine”), and Lowcountry Infectious Diseases, P.A. (“Lowcountry”). *Id.* Since the pre-suit mediation ended in an impasse on October 18, 2018, the McGougans filed a Summons and Complaint on November 30, 2018, seeking damages for Ms. McGougan’s personal injury and Mr. McGougan’s loss of consortium. (R. pp. 11-12 ¶¶ 30-32). These claims arose out of a spinal surgery Dr. Frisch performed on Ms. McGougan at East Cooper Medical Center on August 2, 2016, as well as post-operative care for a surgical site infection. (R. pp. 9-12 ¶¶ 10-32). That care was provided by Dr. Frisch, mid-level providers at his practice (Southeastern Spine), and Dr. West, an infectious disease physician associated with Lowcountry. Respondents served their answers on January 2 and 11, 2019. (R. pp. 13-24).

The matter was tried by a jury and the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson on September 9-16, 2024. On September 16, 2024, the jury returned a defense verdict, finding none of the Respondents violated the standard of care in treating Ms. McGougan. (R. pp. 1-3). The circuit court denied the McGougans’ motion for a new trial under the thirteenth juror doctrine on September 26, 2024. (R. pp. 4-6). The McGougans filed and served a notice of appeal on October 9, 2024. (R. p. 1361).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Patricia McGougan suffered a back injury on July 5, 2016. (R. pp. 395-96). After working a long overnight shift as a nurse supervisor at Loris Community Hospital, Ms. McGougan went out for breakfast and shopping with her husband. (R. p. 395). While reaching for an item in the

grocery line, Ms. McGougan experienced a loud pop and felt pain in her back and leg. Id. A chiropractor and Ms. McGougan's family physician were unable to address her injury and, following a MRI, Ms. McGougan was instructed to seek the assistance of a neurosurgeon. (R. p. 396). Ms. McGougan sought out Dr. Frisch, a neurosurgeon with Southeastern Spine, and he recommended she undergo a discectomy at L4-L5 and a left L4 hemi-laminectomy. (R. pp. 396-98; R. p. 9 ¶ 9).

Dr. Frisch performed the surgery at East Cooper Medical Center on August 2, 2016. (R. p. 9 ¶ 9). After an overnight hospital stay, Ms. McGougan was discharged home, fully expecting to return to work in 6-8 weeks. (R. p. 398). Dr. Frisch prescribed a seven-day course of doxycycline (14 doses) to address the risk of post-operative infection. (R. p. 9 ¶ 10). Ms. McGougan had her initial post-operative appointment at Southeastern Spine on August 16, 2016, during which she saw a physician assistant who noted no sign of infection. (R. p. 9 ¶ 11). Four days later, however, Ms. McGougan's wound reopened and she began to have substantial drainage. (R. pp. 399-400). Over the next several weeks—and through several visits with Southeastern Spine physician assistants—Ms. McGougan's drainage and pain worsened. (R. pp. 400-04). The Southeastern Spine providers failed to collect cultures from the wound drainage. (R. pp. 9-10 ¶¶ 12-15). Ms. McGougan finally saw Dr. Frisch on September 20, 2016. By this point, she was suffering from substantial pain and a fever. (R. p. 10 ¶ 16). Dr. Frisch noted Ms. McGougan had suffered wound dehiscence and admitted her to the hospital for an MRI and blood cultures. (R. p. 406).

The MRI showed a collection of fluid at the surgical site for which the likely diagnosis included post-operative infection. The following day (September 21, 2016), culture results showed Ms. McGougan had heavy growth of the bacteria known as methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus ("MRSA"). Ms. McGougan was then by Dr. West, an infectious disease physician with

Lowcountry. Dr. West's initial plan was to delay ordering antibiotics to address the infection for the possibility of surgical exploration of the wound. Dr. Frisch performed a surgical procedure to drain the wound on September 22, 2016, and IV vancomycin was administered prior to the start of the surgery. (R. p. 406; R. p. 10 ¶ 20). Following the surgery, Dr. West prescribed a course of IV vancomycin administered every 12 hours from September 23, 2016, until Ms. McGougan was discharged home on September 26, 2016, for a total of seven (7) doses.

At the time of discharge, cultures from purulent fluid found in Ms. McGougan's surgical wound bed collected during the September drainage procedure showed moderate MRSA growth. Crucially, Dr. West chose to discontinue the IV vancomycin and send Ms. McGougan home with only an oral antibiotic (minocycline 100 mg) to be taken twice-a-day for two weeks. Dr. West was also vague in his instructions about if and when Ms. McGougan should reach out for a follow-up appointment. Ms. McGougan's condition declined substantially over the weeks that followed. By December 13, 2016, Ms. McGougan was suffering from such severe back and leg pain that she could barely get out of bed. An MRI showed granulation tissue at the site of her spinal surgery, and Ms. McGougan was readmitted to East Cooper Medical Center on December 19, 2016. Blood cultures showed continued MRSA growth, and a CT scan showed osteomyelitis (bone infection) at L4-L5. (R. p. 465). Since the infection had been allowed to fester and infiltrate the bone, Ms. McGougan's condition and prognosis worsened. Dr. West started Ms. McGougan on IV antibiotics via a PICC line to treat her worsening bone infection. Her condition was dire. Ms. McGougan remembers that "every day things got worse." Her doctors worried the infection could damage other vital organs, including her heart and kidneys. (R. p. 424). Things got so bad that Ms. McGougan thought she was going to die. Id.

After more than two weeks in the hospital, Ms. McGougan was finally sent home on January 3, 2017, but still had the PICC line and required 3 months of IV vancomycin to address the infection. Yet, Ms. McGougan's pain remained months later. After consulting with Dr. Peter Grossi at Duke Medical Center in Durham, North Carolina, Ms. McGougan learned the damage the bone infection had caused. Scans showed an almost complete collapse of the disc space at L4-L5. Along with the continuing pain and discomfort, the bone infection meant Ms. McGougan would not be able to return to work. (R. pp. 427-28).

The McGougans' suit alleges Respondents' medical malpractice proximately caused Ms. McGougan's damages and Mr. McGougan's loss of consortium. (R. p. 12 ¶¶ 31-32). Specifically, they allege Dr. Frisch and other Southeastern Spine providers breached the standard of care in failing to properly identify and respond to her infection following the original August 2016 spinal surgery. (R. p. 11 ¶ 30). They further allege Dr. West and Lowcountry breached the standard of care in the course of treatment Dr. West selected to address Ms. McGougan's infection during and following the September 2016 hospitalization. Only a short course of IV vancomycin was ordered during the hospitalization, and Dr. West chose to prescribe only oral minocycline when Ms. McGougan was discharged. Given Ms. McGougan's presentation and history, minocycline was not an appropriate medication to fight her complicated SSTI¹. The standard of care required Dr. West to prescribe either continuation of IV vancomycin or a longer-lasting agent like IV Valvance (an antistaphylococcal agent) or Zyvox (an oral medication).

During the September 2024 trial of this action, Dr. West took the witness stand in his own defense. He testified not only as a fact witness recounting his treatment of Ms. McGougan but also

¹ The IDSA guidelines define complicated skin and soft tissue infection ("SSTI") as "patients with deeper soft-tissue infections, surgical/traumatic wound infection, major abscesses, cellulitis, and infected ulcers and burns."

offered a broad array of opinion testimony about how various antibiotic medications function (R. p. 888) and about matters ranging from his personal research on rheumatology (R. pp. 896-97; 901-02) to treatments for exotic diseases like the bubonic plague and rocky mountain spotted fever (R. p. 899). He also sought to defend his choice of oral minocycline to address Ms. McGougan's infection in September 2016. During direct examination, Dr. West touted guidelines from a medical journal published by the Infectious Diseases Society of America ("IDSA"). (R. p. 890). These were guidelines Dr. West claims he "had in mind" and was "following" when choosing how to address Ms. McGougan's post-operative infection. (R. pp. 889-90). Dr. West then began to quote from the IDSA guidelines to suggest minocycline was an appropriate medication to prescribe for Ms. McGougan and to assert that she had received an ample amount of antibiotics to address her infection. (R. p. 890).

The McGougans' attorney attempted to return to this point on cross-examination. Dr. West again claimed the IDSA guideline "helped formulate [his] decision-making" for Ms. McGougan's care. (R. pp. 931-32). To support that proposition, he then read a portion of Paragraph 5 from the guidelines. (R. p. 932). Then, the McGougans' attorney challenged Dr. West by asking him to read from Paragraph 7 of the same guideline—which appeared on the same page from which Dr. West had just read. (R. pp. 932-33). Dr. West's counsel objected, arguing the very document from which his client had just quoted (and about which counsel had asked during the direct examination) was inadmissible hearsay. (R. pp. 933). The circuit court sustained the objection and stated on the record that Dr. West could not be asked to read from Paragraph 7 of the IDSA guidelines. (R. p. 933).²

² Dr. West's attorney also objected to a similar attempt to present the IDSA guideline during cross-examination of Dr. West's infectious disease expert. (R. pp. 964-65).

When the trial was over, the jury found no breach in the standard of care by Dr. Frisch and Southeastern Spine or Dr. West and Lowcountry. (R. pp. 1-3). This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's rulings on evidence admissibility issues are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Blake, 442 S.C. 295, 308, 898 S.E.2d 184, 191 (Ct. App. 2024). An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court's ruling was either controlled by an error of law or based on unsupported factual conclusions. State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429-30, 632 S.E.2d 845, 848 (2009). A circuit court abuses its discretion by excluding evidence that is "highly probative on the issue of defining [the defendant's] duty of care." Elledge v. Richland/Lexington Sch. Dist. Five, 352 S.C. 179, 188-89, 573 S.E.2d 789, 794 (2002). An evidence admissibility error may lead to reversal and a new trial where the appellant was prejudiced by the error. State v. Garris, 394 S.C. 336, 350, 714 S.E.2d 888, 896 (Ct. App. 2011).

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in barring the McGougans' attorney from asking Dr. West to read into evidence a portion of the IDSA guidelines for treating MRSA infections. The guidelines fall squarely within the learned treatise hearsay exception designed to allow a party to challenge their opponent's testimony with scientific literature, especially where even the opponent admits the guidelines are authoritative. Moreover, the court should not overlook the fact that Dr. West himself is the reason IDSA guidelines were brought into this trial. He used them in his direct examination to tell jurors he followed the rules. Fairness dictates he should have to read to jurors other portions of those rules (from the same page) suggesting he deviated from the standard of care. In the end, the circuit court's error left the jury with an incomplete, misleading view of the guidelines. Dr.

West got to claim he met their requirements and complied with the standard of care, but the McGougans were denied the chance to show otherwise. A new trial is needed to correct this error.

1. The IDSA guideline section the circuit court excluded was admissible under the learned treatise hearsay exception.

The circuit court abused its discretion in excluding from evidence a paragraph from the IDSA guidelines for treating MRSA infections because the foundation questions asked by the McGougans' attorney and Dr. West's own testimony during his direct examination provided all the prerequisites for applying the learned treatise hearsay exception.

South Carolina law generally excludes from evidence an out-of-court declarant's statement offered for the truth of the matter asserted. Rule 801(c), SCRE (defining "hearsay"); Rule 802, SCRE (generally excluding hearsay from evidence). Dr. West invoked Rule 801 in his objection to Dr. West reading a paragraph from the IDSA guidelines for treating a MRSA infection. (R. p. 933, lines 7-11). The circuit court cited the hearsay rule as its basis for sustaining the objection and instructing the jury to disregard lines from the disputed section Dr. West had already read aloud. (R. p. 933, lines 19-24). That ruling was in error for two reasons.

First, the disputed section of the guidelines did not qualify as "hearsay" because it was not offered for its truth. Instead, the McGougans were using the guidelines to impeach. In response to questions from his own attorney, Dr. West told jurors he "had in mind" the IDSA guidelines when choosing an antibiotic for Ms. McGougan in September 2016 and that he "followed" and "exceeded" the requirements stated in Paragraph 7 of those guidelines in the course of treatment he chose for her. (R. p. 889, line 20 – p. 890, line 19). Dr. West reiterated on cross-examination that he considered IDSA guidelines to "formulate [his] decision-making" in Ms. McGougan's

case. (R. p. 931, line 24 – p. 932, line 2)³. He then read Paragraph 5 of the IDSA guideline section titled “What is the management of skin and soft-tissue infections (SSTIs) in the era of the community-associated MRSA (CA-MRSA)?” to support the contention that he had considered the guidelines before choosing an antibiotic to treat Ms. McGougan’s MRSA infection. (R. p. 932, lines 20-24). Paragraph 5 of this section addresses “empirical coverage of CA-MRSA in outpatients with SSTI.” In response, the McGougans’ attorney pursued a line of questioning about Paragraph 7 of this same IDSA section (“Paragraph 7”) addressing hospitalized patients like Ms. McGougan with complicated surgical-site infections (C-SSTI). (R. p. 932, line 25 – p. 933, line 6).

The aim was to challenge the credibility of Dr. West’s testimony. Dr. West told jurors under oath he used the IDSA guidelines to formulate his treatment plan, but he plainly had not considered the implications of Paragraph 7. Thus, apart from the truth of Paragraph 7’s contents, it was properly cited in cross-examination to challenge Dr. West’s claimed method for reaching his ultimate prescribing decision. See Baker v. Port City Steel Erectors, Inc., 261 S.C. 469, 474, 200 S.E.2d 681, 682-83 (1973) (holding that a scientific textbook can be used for the purpose of impeaching an expert witness and “testing the reliability of one of the factors used by [the expert] in analyzing the” issue in question). As New York’s top court has ruled, clinical practice guidelines like the IDSA guidelines at issue here are admissible as non-hearsay statements when offered during a treating physician’s cross-examination “as demonstrative evidence of the steps he had followed” in treating the plaintiff. Hinlicky v. Dreyfuss, 848 N.E.2d 1285, 1289 (N.Y. 2006).

³ IDSA guidelines are organized by section. “Each section of the guidelines begins with a specific clinical question and is followed by numbered recommendations and a summary of the most relevant evidence in support of the recommendations.”

Second, even if the IDSA guidelines were hearsay, the circuit court erred in refusing to allow them to be published to the jury them pursuant to the learned treatise hearsay exception. The general rule against admission of hearsay statements does not apply:

To the extent called to the attention of an expert witness upon cross-examination or relied upon by the expert witness in direct examination, statements contained in published treatises, periodicals, or pamphlets on a subject of history, medicine, or other science or art, established as a reliable authority by the testimony or admission of the witness or by other expert testimony or by judicial notice. If admitted, the statements may be read into evidence but may not be received as exhibits. This rule is in addition to any statutory provisions on this subject.

Rule 803(18), SCRE.

All requirements for applying this exception were met before Dr. West was asked about Paragraph 7 of the IDSA guidelines. The IDSA guidelines fall within the category of “published treatises, periodicals, or pamphlets on a subject of history, medicine, or other science or art.” These guidelines appear in *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, a peer-reviewed medical journal IDSA publishes. Torrey v. Infectious Diseases Soc. of Am., 86 F.4th 701, 702-03 (5th Cir. 2023). The IDSA guidelines specifically, and clinical practice guidelines more broadly, have been recognized as appropriate writings for applying the learned treatise hearsay exception. Emers v. Lyons, Case No. A-4704-13T3, 2015 WL 10434723, at * 4 (N.J. Super. App. Div. Mar. 8, 2016) (finding IDSA guidelines qualified as learned treatise and were properly used during cross-examination of expert witness in medical malpractice trial); Guthrie v. Ball, No. 1:11-cv-333-SKL, 2014 WL 5471531, at * 6 (E.D. Tenn. Oct. 17, 2014) (finding pain management guidelines covered by federal rule 803(18)).

It is also evident from the record the IDSA guidelines had been “relied upon by [Dr. West] in direct examination.” His own attorney asked Dr. West about the IDSA guideline section specific to the management of skin and soft tissue infections in the era of community-associated MRSA,

and Dr. West confidently claimed to have “followed” and “exceeded” its requirements. (R. p. 890, lines 17-18). Moreover, the IDSA guidelines were “established as a reliable authority” when Dr. West testified the guidelines are used in an infectious disease physician’s process for recommending antibiotics for patients. (R. p. 889, line 22 – p. 890, line 2). Dr. West vouched for the IDSA guidelines’ authority as an IDSA member. (R. p. 890, lines 3-6). This point cannot be seriously questioned as other courts have recognized how important the IDSA guidelines are in the field of infectious disease medicine. See e.g. Va. Bd. of Med. v. Zackrison, 796 S.E.2d 866, 869-70 (Va. App. 2017) (describing IDSA as “a private organization of health care professionals often cited by the federal Centers for Disease Control and Prevention” that offers “peer-reviewed guidelines”).

Additionally, the learned treatise hearsay exception applied here because Dr. West was testifying as an “expert witness.” While Dr. West is a named defendant in this litigation, that does not prevent him from testifying as an expert witness at trial. Ward v. Epting, 290 S.C. 547, 555-56, 351 S.E.2d 867, 872 (Ct. App. 1986). Defense counsel claiming a defendant physician is solely a fact witness does not make it so. Id. What matters is the type of testimony counsel elicits or the physician chooses to provide. Ward held that a treating physician steps into the role of an expert witness when (1) his qualifications were discussed during direct examination; (2) he testified as to the routine practice for addressing a condition like that suffered by the plaintiff in addition to the physician’s specific conduct in treating the plaintiff; or (3) he gave an opinion as to the cause of certain medical conditions suffered by the plaintiff. Id.

Dr. West’s testimony did all of these things and more. The first few pages of Dr. West’s direct examination testimony are nothing but a recitation of his educational background and other professional credentials. (R. pp. 860-61). Dr. West then went on to describe in detail his work with

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