RECEIVED

Jun 11 2025

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Civil No. 2018-CP-10-05675
Appellate Case No. 2024-001698

Patricia P. McGougan and Edgar McGougan,

Appellants,

v.

Richard F. Frisch, M.D., Timothy E. West, M.D.,
The Southeastern Spine Institute, L.L.C., and
Lowcountry Infectious Diseases, P.A.

Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS
Dr. Frisch and Southeastern Spine Institute**

HOOD LAW FIRM, LLC

James B. Hood (SC #70212)

james.hood@hoodlaw.com

Brian J. Kern (SC #79719)

brian.kern@hoodlaw.com

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

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN PRECLUDING THE DEFENDANT DR. WEST FROM READING PARAGRAPH 7 FROM THE IDSA GUIDELINES TO THE JURY.

Standard of Review of Evidentiary Rulings

The Appellate Court applies an abuse of discretion standard when reviewing a trial court's ruling on the exclusion of evidence under the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. State v. Wallace, 440 S.C. 537, 541, 892 S.E.2d 310, 312 (2023). The Appellate Court will not reverse a trial court's evidentiary ruling unless it finds the trial court has not acted within the discretion granted to trial courts. *Id.* “[A] trial court acts outside of its discretion when the ruling is not supported by the evidence or is controlled by an error of law.” *Id.* Even if the Appellate Court finds an abuse of

discretion, the Court will not reverse unless the error caused prejudice. State v. Davis-Kocsis, 443 S.C. 127, 136, 903 S.E.2d 491, 495 n.2 (2024).

However, the necessary predicate to any question of the standard of review is whether the issue being raised on appeal has been preserved for appellate review.

There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” Jean Hoefler Toal et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 57 (2d ed. 2002).

S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 301–02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007). *See also* Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”); Malloy v. Thompson, 409 S.C. 557, 561, 762 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2014) (“The issue must be sufficiently clear to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the judge.”)

Summary of Argument

The sole issue raised by the Plaintiffs in this appeal arises from an evidentiary ruling during the cross examination of Defendant Dr. West. During his direct examination, Dr. West testified regarding the existence of certain guidelines issued by the Infectious Disease Society of America (IDSA) regarding MRSA. In particular, he testified that, in the circumstances presented with this Patient during the September 2016 hospitalization, the applicable IDSA guideline recommends giving seven to 14 days of antibiotics, and that he followed those guidelines. [ROA 889-90; Tr. 861-62.] On cross examination, the Plaintiffs questioned Dr. West regarding the specific section (Paragraph 5) dealing with a class of complicated skin and soft-tissue infection upon which he had relied. [ROA 934; Tr. 904.] Then the Plaintiffs began to question Dr. West regarding a different

section of the IDSA Guidelines – Paragraph 7 – regarding hospitalized patients with complicated surgical site infections. [ROA 933; Tr. 905.] When Dr. West began reading from that paragraph, Counsel for Dr. West objected on hearsay/Rule 801 grounds. [ROA 933; Tr., 905/7-11.] The Trial Court sustained the hearsay objection, struck the question and answer, and instructed the jury not to consider it. [ROA 933; Tr. 905/21-24.]

The Plaintiffs state the issue they are presenting on appeal as: “Whether the circuit court erred in preventing the defendant infectious disease physician from reading on cross-examination treatment guidelines from a learned medical treatise the physician relied on during his direct examination and admitted was a reliable authority.” [Appellants’ Final Br. p. 1.] They articulate their arguments as: “The IDSA guideline section the circuit court excluded was admissible under the learned treatise hearsay exception;” and that “Permitting Dr. West to introduce one portion of the IDSA guidelines and to prevent admission of an adjacent portion is fundamentally unfair and deprived the jury of essential context.” [Appellants’ Final Br. pp. 8, 13.]

As a threshold question of issue preservation, the record shows that the Plaintiffs did not preserve the evidentiary issue they are raising on appeal. When the Defense made the hearsay objection, the Plaintiffs did not offer any argument that the learned treatise exception found in Rule 803(18) applies nor did they offer any argument that the Rule 106 rule of completeness applied to allow Dr. West to read Paragraph 7 to the jury. Moreover, the Plaintiffs did not make any proffer of the full text of Paragraph 7. As to the merits of the hearsay ruling, the Trial Court acted within its discretion in sustaining the objection because the text of Paragraph 7 was hearsay that did not fall into the learned treatise exception on Rule 803(18) nor the rule of completeness found in Rule 106.

In addition, the Plaintiffs cannot argue that the hearsay ruling, even if error, caused them any prejudice because they affirmatively told the Trial Court they did not ask for Paragraph 7 to be read and because they never attempted to question any of the experts about Paragraph 7. Further, the Plaintiffs were allowed to fully question Dr. West about Paragraph 7 and his testimony established that Paragraph 7 only applied to hospitalized MRSA patients. Thus, since the Plaintiffs had not alleged or offered any proof that Dr. West's in-patient medication orders breached any standard of care, there is no reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the exclusion of the text of Paragraph 7. Ultimately, there is no reasonable probability that the jury's verdict in favor of Dr. Frisch – the orthopedic surgeon – was influenced by the exclusion of the alleged evidence of a breach of the IDSA Guidelines which guide the infectious disease physicians as to what antibiotics should be ordered to treat MRSA in various circumstances.

The only conclusion the jury could reasonably reach from all the expert testimony is that Dr. Frisch met his standard of care by arranging for an infectious disease consultant to treat the Patient's MRSA infection, and there was no reason for him to second guess or override Dr. West's medication plan to discharge the Patient with a prescription for oral antibiotics. For each and all of these grounds, there is no ground to reverse the jury's verdict in favor of Dr. Frisch and Southeastern Spine, and the judgment should be affirmed.

I. THE EVIDENTIARY ISSUE RAISED ON APPEAL WAS NOT PRESERVED AT TRIAL.

In addition to the general common law issue preservation rules noted above, Rule 103 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence clearly establishes the requirements for preserving an evidentiary issue for appellate review:

- (a) Effect of Erroneous Ruling. Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected, and

(1) Objection. In case the ruling is one admitting evidence, a timely objection or motion to strike appears of record, stating the specific ground of objection, if the specific ground was not apparent from the context; or

(2) Offer of Proof. In case the ruling is one excluding evidence, the substance of the evidence and the specific evidentiary basis supporting admission were made known to the court by offer or were apparent from the context.

“[T]he South Carolina Rules of Evidence state that an error may not be found for the wrongful admission of evidence unless “a timely objection *or* motion to strike appears of record.” Rule 103(a)(1), SCRE (emphasis added).” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 445, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011). “For an admissibility error to be preserved, the objection must include a specific ground “if the specific ground was not apparent from the context.” *Id.* at 59. “A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine ..., but it must be clear the argument has been presented on that ground.” *Id.* (citation omitted).

While the party interposing a hearsay objection bears the burden of showing that the evidence constitutes hearsay, if the court rules that the evidence is hearsay, the proponent of the hearsay then must establish that it is not hearsay or that the hearsay falls into an applicable hearsay exception. See 30B Charles A. Wright & Arthur R. Miller, *Federal Practice and Procedure* §§ 6712, 6803 (2024 ed.); *see also* Marshall v. Thomason, 241 S.C. 84, 89, 127 S.E.2d 177, 179 (1962) (proponent of hearsay under exception bears the burden of establishing the required elements). Where an appellant makes no argument at trial that the proffered statement was either admissible as non-hearsay or admissible under an exception, the Appellate Court will not review those issues when raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Garner, 389 S.C. 61, 66, 697 S.E.2d 615, 617 (Ct. App. 2010).

A. The Plaintiffs did not make any objection to the hearsay ruling at trial.

The trial transcript shows that the Plaintiffs did not make any specific argument in response to the Defendant's hearsay objection to reading Paragraph 7:

[Plaintiffs Counsel] Q. Okay. And -- and paragraph seven is in reference to surgical site infections, correct?

[Dr. West] A. It says, "For the hospitalized patients with complicated SSTI" --

[Dr. West counsel]: Objection.

THE WITNESS: -- "defined as patients with deeper soft-tissue infection" --

THE COURT: Basis?

[Dr. West Counsel]: 801.

THE WITNESS: -- surgical traumatic wound infection --

[Dr. West Counsel]: 801.

THE COURT: Sir.

THE WITNESS: Pardon me?

[Plaintiffs' Counsel]: I didn't ask him --

THE COURT: There's an objection.

[Plaintiffs; Counsel]: I didn't ask him to --

THE COURT: The question elicited that. Sir, please don't read anything from any of those records. Thank you.

Ladies and gentlemen, the last question and answer will be stricken, you're to give it no consideration in your deliberation.

The objection is sustained. Hearsay.

[ROA 933; Tr. 905/3-24.]

The Plaintiffs did not argue that it was not hearsay. The Plaintiffs did not assert the learned treatise exception to the hearsay rule found in Rule 803(18). The Plaintiffs did not assert that, as

a matter of fairness, the rule of completeness found in Rule 106 allowed introduction of the full content of Paragraph 7. Rather, the Plaintiffs affirmatively asserted that they had not even asked Dr. West to read Paragraph 7, and then they just continued with questioning Dr. West about the guideline in Paragraph 7:

Q. You agree that paragraph seven and this guideline does not identify any Tetracycline derivative as being appropriate standard of care, correct?

A. You have to define that a little bit better. This is on hospitalized patients. When she was hospitalized, I gave her Vancomycin.

Q. And --

A. And so when she was discharged, and there's another page in here on Tetracycline's in their utility and treatment, which you've left out.

Q. Sir.

A. Right now. So she was hospitalized. She got the antibiotic, which was recommended for hospitalization.

Q. For how long, sir, is it recommended?

A. She got it for --

THE WITNESS: She got it as an outpatient for 14 days. She got it as an inpatient for five days.

BY [Plaintiffs' Counsel]:

Q. How long is the standard recommend for my client to have received IV Vancomycin?

A. It doesn't recommend IV antibiotics. It recommends antibiotics for seven to four -- 14 days. doesn't say IV or PO, but she was in the hospital and it usually recommend -- it recommended IV while in the hospital.

[ROA 934-35; Tr. 906/1- 907/2.]

Q. The standard does not list Tetracycline or any of its derivatives for surgical site infections, correct?

A. This standard right here, this paragraph is referring to hospitalized patients. If you turn another page or two, there's several paragraphs listing the utility of using Tetracyclines.

Q. And again, seven to 14 days without IV is what the recommendation is, correct?

A. It doesn't say it says seven to 14 days of antibiotics. It doesn't say that it has to be IV.

[ROA 936; Tr. 908/11-20.]

B. The Plaintiffs did not make any proffer of Paragraph 7.

As required by Rule 103, when a trial judge excludes evidence, the party must make an offer of proof of the excluded evidence. A failure to make a proffer precludes appellate review. Otis Elevator, Inc. v. Hardin Const. Co. Grp., 316 S.C. 292, 298, 450 S.E.2d 41, 44 (1994); TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Rev., 331 S.C. 611, 628, 503 S.E.2d 471, 480 (1998). “Unless a party includes an offer of proof in the record, there is nothing for us to review.” Honea v. Prior, 295 S.C. 526, 534, 369 S.E.2d 846, 851 (Ct. App. 1988) (citing Ward v. Epting, 290 S.C. 547, 351 S.E.2d 867 (Ct.App.1986)); Ellison v. Parts Distributors, Inc., 302 S.C. 299, 302, 395 S.E.2d 740, 741–42 (Ct. App. 1990).

The transcript does contain a portion of Paragraph 7 as read by the witness before the Trial Court stopped his reading and ordered the question and answer stricken. The transcript, as quoted above, does provide a limited description of the topic of Paragraph 7: "For the hospitalized patients with complicated SSTI" – “defined as patients with deeper soft-tissue infection” – “surgical traumatic wound infection.” However, the Plaintiffs never made any effort to make a proffer of the full text of Paragraph 7 by making it a court exhibit or reading into the record.

The record shows that the issue raised by the Plaintiffs in this appeal and the arguments found in their appellate brief were never preserved in the Trial Court and they cannot be presented for the first time on appeal. Moreover, without a sufficient offer of proof of Paragraph 7, there is nothing for the Appellate Court to review. Accordingly, the judgment entered in favor the Defendants Dr. Frisch and Southeastern Spine should be affirmed.

II. PARAGRAPH 7 OF THE IDSA GUIDELINES WAS PROPERLY EXCLUDED AS HEARSAY.

A. Paragraph 7 of the IDSA Guidelines is hearsay.

Rule 802 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence (the Hearsay Rule) provides that: “Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute.” As defined in Rule 801(c), SCRE: “‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.”

The Plaintiffs argue on appeal that Paragraph 7 of the IDSA guideline is not hearsay because it is not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, but only to challenge the witness’ credibility. [Appellants’ Final Br. p. 8⁶.] As discussed above, this argument is not preserved for appeal because the Plaintiffs never made the argument in the trial court, and even if the argument was preserved, it has no legal foundation.

The very existence of the learned treatise exception found in Rule 803(18) is based on the premise that a medical text is hearsay. Moreover, the law is long settled that medical books are hearsay:

May medical books be read to the witnesses, or to the court, or to the jury? To read such a book to the court or the jury is to make of the author of the book a witness

⁶ “First, the disputed section of the guidelines did not qualify as “hearsay” because it was not offered for its truth. Instead, the McGougans were using the guidelines to impeach.”

for the party introducing it, which witness the other party has no opportunity to cross examine. In addition, it is hearsay testimony.

Edwards v. Union Buffalo Mills Co., 162 S.C. 17, 159 S.E. 818, 819–20 (1931). “It is well settled by our decisions that, ordinarily, medical books are not admissible in evidence to be read to the court and to the jury, except in certain cases allowed by statute.” LaCount v. Gen. Asbestos & Rubber Co., 184 S.C. 232, 192 S.E. 262, 266 (1937).

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